CERN Storage Systems for Large-Scale Wireless

September 2013

Author: Andrea Azzarà

6

Supervisors: Xavier Espinal Massimo Lamanna

CERN openlab Summer Student Report 2013



Abstract

The project aims at evaluating the use of CERN computing infrastructure for next generation sensor networks data analysis. The proposed system allows the simulation of a large-scale sensor array for traffic analysis, streaming data to CERN storage systems in an efficient way. The data are made available for offline and quasi-online analysis, enabling both long term planning and fast reaction on the environment.

Sommario

1	Intro	duction.		4			
	1.1	Large	Scale Wireless Sensor Networks	4			
		1.1.1	Network protocols for WSN	4			
	1.2	1.2 Motivation					
2	Relat	ed Work	۲	6			
3	Scala	Scalable WSN Emulation					
	3.1	Modules and Architecture					
		3.1.1	Cooja	7			
		3.1.2	РуоТ	8			
		3.1.3	OpenStack	9			
		3.1.4	Monitoring	10			
		3.1.5	Global Architecture	11			
	3.2	and HDFS Storage	12				
		3.2.1	Sensor level	12			
		3.2.2	WSN level	13			
		3.2.3	Global level	13			
	3.3	Workf	flow	14			
		3.3.1	LSF batch processing workflow	14			
		3.3.2	Hadoop Map-Reduce workflow	14			
		3.3.3	Results	15			
4	Data Analysis						
	4.1	4.1 SUMO					
	4.2	2 Objective					
	4.3	Evaluation					
5	Conc	lusions a	and future works	19			

1 Introduction

1.1 Large Scale Wireless Sensor Networks

A Wireless Sensor Network (WSN) consists of spatially distributed autonomous devices which cooperate, by means of wireless communication, in order to fulfil their tasks, which are generally based on the monitoring of physical or environmental conditions, or most recently in acquiring and processing multimedia information. The sensor network is a network consisting of spatially distributed devices equipped with sensors which are used to collect physical data and monitor environmental condition at different locations. In a typical sensor network, nodes cooperate to complete the task of collecting raw data and return to the application back-end. In essence, the nodes within such a network have at least computation, wireless communication, and sensing functionality, all characteristics which candidate WSNs to become the key technology for pervasive sensing and computing.

1.1.1 Network protocols for WSN

Over the past few years the research community has focused on designing protocols to enable the integration of WSN nodes into the Internet world, following the Internet of Things (IoT) concept. Indeed, protocols for the traditional Internet are often unsuited for embedded devices that are usually constrained in terms of computing power, memory, and network interfaces. The main outcome of this research effort is an adaptation layer for IPv6 allowing to transmit IPv6 packets over IEEE 802.15.4 networks. 6LoWPAN, i.e., an adaptation of IPv6 for low-power devices, have proven to be a valid alternative to traditional WSNs employing proprietary protocols[1]. Another important step towards the IoT is the on-going drafting of the Constrained Application Protocol (CoAP), an HTTPlike protocol especially designed for constrained devices. CoAP permits to create embedded web services running on IoT nodes[2], thus extending the successful web architecture, based on the REST paradigm, to the IoT. The basic idea is that IoT nodes are responsible for one or more resources that may represent sensors, actuators, combinations of values or other information. Internet devices can send messages to change and query resources on IoT nodes. IoT nodes can also send notifications about changed resource values to devices that have subscribed to receive notification about changes.

1.2 Motivation

Wireless Sensor Networks are increasingly used in various application domains like home-automation, agriculture, industries and infrastructure monitoring. Potential worldwide deployment of WSNs for, e.g., environmental monitoring purposes could yield data in amounts of petabytes each year. Deployments of Large-scale WSNs (LS-WSNs) have potential to shed light on a number of environmental phenomena, such as progression of climate change, pollution levels, effects of urbanization, water management, and so on. Large Scale WSN deployment require development of solutions for storing and reasoning about the potentially huge amounts of data they would generate. Different application may have different demands on data sources and data processing, and different requirements in terms of timeliness. We Consider the case study of a large scale Intelligent Transportation System (ITS) in which a large number of small sensor are deployed as road side units all over the road network. There are many possible applications for such network, with different timeliness requirements:

- 1. Vehicle tracking; Vehicle can be tracked in different ways, using smart camera sensors, RFID. Vehicle tracking is a hard real-time application.
- 2. Traffic dispatching; Traffic dispatching need real-time data of traffic flow, weather data and so on. Traffic scheduling is a soft real-time application, as several minutes lag will not cause suffering result. If all the traffic related data are sent to the data centres of the cloud, the inflowing data may cause network congestion. If the scheduling algorithm is only based on the real-data, there is no need to store the collected data in the cloud, but if it is a prediction algorithm based on historical data, the collected data must be stored in the cloud.
- 3. Expressway planning. Unlike in the scenario of traffic dispatching, expressway planning does not need real-time data, but need huge historical data. The cloud data centres can collect statistical data from local servers, and complete the computation using the cloud computing resources.

From the analysis of these case studies it is clear that a common requirement is to run complex analysis on large data coming from distributed sensors, and possibly use the output of the computation to inject a feedback to the environment. In this project we consider the problem of interconnecting a large-scale WSN infrastructure to a "cloud" of storage and computing systems. In particular the project has the goal to provide a preliminary evaluation of the requirements and issues of a control loop between the sensor system and the computing infrastructure, in order to provide a feedback on the environment. Both "real-time" and "long-term" analysis use cases has been considered, with different pattern of data analysis: data-intensive (map-reduce) and CPU-intensive (batch processing).



2 Related Work

In recent years the research community started to consider the problem of interconnecting large-scale WSN to storage and computing infrastructures. In [3] the adoption of the Map-reduce programming model for the processing of sensor data is evaluated. The high costs of deploying WSNs in harsh environments providing no infrastructure result into a non-uniform geographical distribution of sensor nodes. The spatial interpolation of a phenomenon in such regions is highly important. In the proposed solution data from VLS WSN are collected in tables HBase, then statistical geospatial algorithms (dealing with missing measurements) are applied. Spatial-temporal analysis is based on data windowing, i.e. selecting a geographical region and applying the analyses on the window-contained nodes alone. The Map-Reduce model is then applied on tables representing large matrices.

In [4] a data processing model based on Cloud computing for very large scale sensor network is proposed. Specifically the authors deal with the problems of how to store the data and where to process it; if all the data are send to the data centres of the cloud at the sampling time, the inflow of massive data to the wide-area networks may cause network congestion. Moreover If all the data of the sensors are processing at the cloud, the communication latency may make the applications requiring for real-time demand intolerable. The authors propose a multilevel data processing model based on cloud computing. The architecture of the system is shown in Figure 1. In this model the massive sensor data and node information are stored in multilevel data storage including local data bases of different devices and distributed data bases of cloud; Different kinds of computations are decomposed and distributed on different nodes mainly considering their differences on computation ability and power supply.



Figure 1 Multilevel data storing architecture

3 Scalable WSN Emulation

It is rather complex, or even unfeasible, to model analytically a WSN and it usually leads to oversimplified analysis with limited confidence. Besides, deploying test-beds supposes a huge effort. Therefore, simulation is essential to study WSN. However, it requires a suitable model based on solid assumptions and an appropriate framework to ease implementation. In addition, simulation results rely on the particular scenario under study (environment), hardware and physical layer assumptions, which are not usually accurate enough to capture the real behaviour of a WSN, thus, jeopardizing the credibility of results. However, detailed models yields to scalability and performance issues, due to the large number of nodes, that depending on application, have to be simulated. Therefore, the trade-off between scalability and accuracy becomes a major issue when simulating WSN.

In this project a mechanism to support large-scale WSN emulation has been developed. With WSN Network emulation the virtual simulation environment is integrated with a small number of real hardware devices to facilitate performance evaluation of real-life devices in a large-scale but well-controlled environment. Network emulation is an inexpensive approach to testing, validating, and evaluating protocols and techniques in a realistic but well controlled network environment[5].

The first part of the project consisted in the development of an infrastructure supporting large-scale WSN emulation. In the proposed system the WSNs are executed in the well-controlled virtual environment while the other components of the system run on the real environment. The next section will describe the system's architecture and modules.

3.1 Modules and Architecture

In this section the main the architecture of the system will be described starting from an overview of the its sub modules.

3.1.1 Cooja

Cooja is the Contiki¹ network simulator. Contiki is an open source operating system for the Internet of Things connecting tiny, low-cost, battery-operated and low-power systems to the Internet. Cooja allows large and small networks of Contiki motes to be simulated. Motes can be emulated at the hardware level, which is slower but allows precise inspection of the system behaviour, or at a less detailed level, which is faster and allows simulation of larger networks. Figure 2 shows a TMote Sky, the mote selected for emulation in Cooja. TMote Sky is a platform for extremely low power, high data-rate, sensor network applications. TMote Sky is equipped with a MSP430 MCU with 10Kb of on-chip RAM and a IEEE 802.15.4 radio transceiver.

2013

¹ www.contiki-os.org



Figure 2 TMote Sky

3.1.2 РуоТ

PyoT² is a system for macro-programming and managing IoT-based WSNs. PyoT abstracts the WSN as a set of resources (i.e., sensors and actuators) that can be manipulated and combined in order to perform complex tasks. Specifically, PyoT allows the user to discover available resources, monitor sensor data, handle its storage, control actuators, define events and the actions to be performed when they are detected, and interact with resources using a scripting language (macro-programming). The high-level abstraction provided by PyoT completely hides the nodes and the network, letting users and application developers focus on the sensing and actuation capability of the system. PyoT provides two ways for interacting with resources: a convenient web-based user interface (WUI) and a powerful macro-programming mechanism. The WUI is designed as a virtual control room that allows for easy execution of basic operations such as resource listing, sensor monitoring, actuator control, event detection and reaction, and access to historical data. The macro-programming mechanism allows the use of a highlevel language, specifically Python, for defining more complex operations (e.g., operations involving group of sensors or having an elaborate logic). Indeed, PyoT provides a set of Python APIs for interacting with resources, which are abstracted as Pvthon objects. Using the macro-programming mechanism, the user can programmatically access all the basic operations provided by PyoT's WUI and combine them to build IoT applications. PyoT also includes a shell interface that allows experienced users to use the macro-programming mechanism interactively.

Subcomponents

Figure 6 presents the architecture of PyoT. PyoT is designed to be a distributed system running in an IP network (possibly the Internet) and having at least four main components (excluding the WSNs it manages): a Virtual Control Room (VCR), a Shell, a Storage Element (SE), and a PyoT Worker Node (PWN).

² http://github.com/tecip-nes/pyot



Figure 3 PyoT Architecture

The PWN is the point of service to the IoT-based WSNs. The PWN keeps track of the nodes and resources available in the WSN and updates the related information stored in the SE. Moreover, it manages the sensor data collection and the event detection. If the user subscribes to some sensor data, the PWN monitors the proper resources for changes and adds new sensor values to the SE every time they become available. The basic operations that can be performed on resources (e.g., resource retrieval, resource monitoring, etc.) are implemented as tasks that can be allocated to different PWNs, each one managing a different WSN. PyoT task distribution systems is depicted in Figure 4 and is based on The Advanced Message Queuing Protocol (AMQP), an open standard application layer protocol for message-oriented middleware.

During the project, PyoT has been extended to support a variable number of WSNs providing a scalable solution for the realization of a large-scale WSN infrastructure. Every network has been associated to a different IPv6 network address. Tasks performing interaction with WSN nodes are dispatched to the right PWN based on the IPv6 address of the nodes using AMQP routing mechanism.



Figure 4 PyoT task distribution

3.1.3 OpenStack

OpenStack³ is an open source infrastructure as a service (IaaS) initiative for creating and managing large groups of virtual private servers in a cloud computing environment. The

³ <u>http://www.openstack.org/</u>

technology consists of a series of interrelated projects that control pools of processing, storage, and networking resources throughout a datacentre, all managed through a dashboard. OpenStack has a modular architecture that currently has three components: compute, storage and image service.

- OpenStack Compute a cloud computing fabric controller for provisioning and managing large networks of virtual machines (VMs).
- OpenStack Object Storage a scalable storage system that provides support for both object storage and block storage.
- Image Service a delivery service that provides discovery and registration for virtual disk images.

3.1.4 Monitoring

Monitoring is realized using Celery Flower⁴, a tool allowing real-time monitoring of tasks progress and history. Flower is able to show task details (arguments, start time, runtime, and more), plotting live graphs and statistics. Moreover Flower allows remote control of tasks, shutdown and restart of worker instances, control worker pool size and auto-scale settings, apply time and rate limits etc. Figure 5. shows a screenshot of Flower interface.



Figure 5 Celery monitoring interface

⁴ <u>https://github.com/mher/flower</u>

3.1.5 Global Architecture





The architecture of the system is represented in Figure 6. A number of Virtual Machines are instantiated using the OpenStack Virtualization framework. Each VM hosts an instance of a WSN simulator (Cooja), connected to the external world through a PyoT Worker Node. A messaging layer is implemented to manage the communication between the various PyoT Worker nodes. One specific VM (PyoT Control node) hosts the applications and servers which are in charge of managing the system. More specifically the PyoT Control node runs:

- an Apache Web Server;
- a MySQL Database;
- the RabbitMQ AMQP broker.

The simulated WSN network is composed by a set of CoAP Server nodes, each one hosting virtual sensors and virtual actuators. The PyoT Workers are in charge of communicating with the Storage Layer, which is realized by CERN EOS system and by the Hadoop File System (HDFS). The storage operation is handled by EOS and HDFS clients respectively. The emulator is instantiated when the Cooja simulators are started inside each VM. Then a macro-programming script is executed inside the PyoT Shell in order to start the interaction with the nodes: specifically the scripts sets up a subscription with each node of the WSN using the Observe mechanism of CoAP. The subscription is handled by a CoAP client instance running inside a PyoT worker. When the resource monitored by the WSN node changes the node sends a notification message to the client, containing the current representation of the resource. The client usually stores each message in a primary instance of the Storage Element, local to the PWN.

The experiments have been run using 8 virtual machines, each one simulating a WSN composed by 16 nodes, plus one VM executing the PyoT Control Centre. In order to demonstrate the data flow, the virtual sensors generate random readings (integers) with a fixed frequency of two seconds. More realistic readings may be produced for example simulating the tracking of some object inside the network. The number of WSN nodes inside a single network is generally limited by a number of factors. In this case the most important ones are the limited bandwidth available for the exchange of internal routing

messages and the overload on the gateway node, which is the bottleneck of the communication from the WSN to the external network.

3.2 EOS and HDFS Storage

The secondary storage (to EOS and HDFS systems) operation is performed by some specific tasks instantiated on PyoT Worker nodes. The screenshot in Figure 7 shows a storage operation performed on a worker node, sending a file to the EOS system. Storage has been implemented following three alternative patterns: Sensor, WSN and Global levels. The patterns respond to different requirements in terms of latency and efficiency of the storage operation. In this context latency of storage is the interval of time between the reception of the notification from the sensor and the moment in which the data is present in the storage infrastructure. Latency is an important factor if a prompt reaction, based on the result of the computation, is required.

	Production	🖸 Y M G 🔄 Live Lab 🔄 Enel 🗳 Drive 🖸 Calendar 🔄 Transl 🛄 acustici 😭	Geocaching 🔄 Internet of Thin	CERN MAIL	N - Summer	p≮TW	= 0	ther Book
				HostList				
PV Non Non-Non-Non-Non-Non-Non-Non-Non-Non-Non-	<pre>provide the second second</pre>							
Image: A Date:	but the set of th	PyeT	F Hosts Resources Handlers	Settings Connec	tivity Test Admin			
Definition Image: Definition of the de	but the set of th							
Image: Distribution of the second	bit bit <th></th> <th>Details Select All DeSelect A</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th>		Details Select All DeSelect A					
1 1	<pre>http://www.initialization.com/initialization.c</pre>		10 IP	Time Added	Last Seen			
1 11/10/10/10/10/10/10/10/10/10/10/10/10/1	A second with the second secon		23 Amer 212 7401 1 101	05 Aug 2013 18 28-46	07 Aug 2013 12:02:36			
1 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	<pre>li</pre>		22 Annua: 212 740b is toOb	05 Aug 2013 19.29-66	07 Aug 2012 12:02:34			
(a) (a) (a) (a) (a) (a) (a) (a) (a)			31 Anna 212 7405 5 905	05 Aug 2013 18-28-42	07 Aug 2013 12 02 32	1		
<pre>Mediancesent-backSyntage Mediancesent-backSyntage Mediancesent-bac</pre>	<pre>https://www.inter.i</pre>		30 Annex 212 7402 2 202	05 Aug 2013 18 28 41	07 Aug 2013 12.02 36	1		
<pre>/ two isons/ humaid up; // two isons/ humaid up; // two isons/ two isons/ humaid up; // two</pre>	<pre>/ Rev Kende Tangel / Rev Kende Tangel /</pre>	re@sssupsensor1:-/pyotC/pyotepp						
<pre>Not 1 11:10:10:10:10:10:10:10:10:10:10:10:10:1</pre>	<pre>bit bit bit bit bit bit bit bit bit bit</pre>		and the second se					
SOLI Bit laws of human tas inds A saturadistignment-lightClyptop 47 39 311444,343 WolthClyptop 1 47 49 31144,343 WolthClyptop 1 48 49 31144,343 WolthClyptop 1 49 31144,344 WolthClop 1 <t< th=""><th>0.01. 0.000 0.02. 0.0000 0.02. 0.0000 0.02. 0.0000 0.02. 0.0000 0.02. 0.0000 0.02. 0.00000 0.02. 0.000000 0.02. 0.00000000000000000000000000000000000</th><th>and an entry of the terrange of the terrange of the</th><th>1 10110007111110 1011000711111</th><th>ant teacher/fearers</th><th>a seen abilities increase</th><th>100 30130007131110 3013</th><th>MATERIAL PROPERTY AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND</th><th></th></t<>	0.01. 0.000 0.02. 0.0000 0.02. 0.0000 0.02. 0.0000 0.02. 0.0000 0.02. 0.0000 0.02. 0.00000 0.02. 0.000000 0.02. 0.00000000000000000000000000000000000	and an entry of the terrange of the terrange of the	1 10110007111110 1011000711111	ant teacher/fearers	a seen abilities increase	100 30130007131110 3013	MATERIAL PROPERTY AND	
How sees human 'tak reg	1 Nore See (1) 1	2) running eoscy p = X 80.201380712181_201380721613_50. 100.201380712161_2013067121612 for 10.6 m H → → → → → → → → → → → → → → → → → →	3.20130807121416_26130807216 9.20130807121416_2613080 140594105-e067-4078-9215-3210 tasks.resourceIndexClean (by r.tasks.resourceIndexClean[13 dexClean[13cc2748-547d-4d8b	28" "root://eospp: 531f5a92] succeed of tasks resource cc2746 547d 408b 8e02-62aa9a0ee32f	s.cern.ch//eos/aazzar ad in 0.691211930858s indexClean) set2 62aa9abee32f] succweded in 0.0183	6/80.20130807121410_2013 : None 3510398865: None	8871216281eos.targetsize-893&eos.booking	stze-I
de et zilitik,disi Mukhak/Papalander JB 60 server, ansage fran assilizitat/eff(ff de zilitik,disi Mukhak/Papalander JB 60 server, ansage fran assilizitat/eff(ff de zilitik,disi Mukhak/Papalander JB 60 server, ansage fran assilizitat/eff(ff) de zilitik,disi Mukhak/Papalander JB 60 server, ansage fran assilizitat/eff(ff) de zilitik,disi Mukhak/Papalander JB 60 server, ansage zilitikat/eff(ff) de zilitik,disi Mukhak/Papalander JB 60 server, ansage zilitikat/eff(ff) de zilitik,disi Mukhak/Papalander JB 60 server, ansage zilitikat/eff(ff) de zilitik,disi Mukhak/Papalander JB 80 server, ansage zilitikat/eff(ff) de zilitikati Mukhak/Papalander JB 80 server, ansage zilitikat/eff(ff) de zilitikati Mukhak/Papalander JB 80 server, ansage zilitikati de zilitikati Mukhak/Papalander JB 80 server ansage zilitikati de z	B # 0 T Link 1,5ki U MANEL/PAULATE 133 B Astrony Analga Front Amazi Link 1,7kf U MANEL/PAULATE 135 B Astrony Analga Front Amazi Link 1,7kf U MANEL/PAULATE 135 B # 0 T Link 1,5ki U MANEL/PAULATE 133 B Astrony Analga Front Amazi Link 1,7kf U MANEL/PAULATE 135 B Astrony Analga Front Amazi Link 1,7kf U MANEL/PAULATE 135 B # 0 T Link 1,7ki U MANEL/PAULATE 137 B Astrony Analga Front Amazi Link 1,7kf U MANEL/PAULATE 137 B Astrony Analga Front Amazi Link 1,7kf U MANEL/PAULATE 137 B # 0 T Link 1,7ki U MANEL/PAULATE 137 B Astrony Analga Front Amazi Link 1,7kf U MANEL/PAULATE 137 B Astrony Analga Front Amazi Link 1,7kf U MANEL/PAULATE 137 B # 0 T Link 1,7ki U MANEL/PAULATE 137 B Astrony Analga Front Amazi Link 1,7kf U MANEL/PAULATE 137 B Astrony Analga Front Amazi Link 1,7kf U MANEL/PAULATE 134 B # 0 T Link 1,7ki U MANEL/PAULATE 137 B Astrony Analga Front Amazi Link 1,7kf U MANEL/PAULATE 134 B Astrony Analga Front Amazi Link 1,7kf U MANEL/PAULATE 134 B # 0 T Link 1,7ki U MANEL/PAULATE 137 B Astrony Analga Front Amazi Link 1,7kf U MANEL/PAULATE 134 B Astrony Analga Front Amazi Link 1,7kf U MANEL/PAULATE 134 B # T Link 1,7ki U MANEL/PAULATE 137 B Astrony Analga Front Amazi Link 1,7kf U MANEL/PAULATE 134 B Astrony Analga Front Amazi Link 1,7kf U MANEL/PAULATE 134 B # T Link 1,7ki U MANEL/PAULATE 134 B Astrony Analga Front Amazi Link 1,7kf U MANEL/PAULATE 134 B Astrony Analga Front Amaei 1,7kf U MANEL/PAULATE 144	2) powing escop p - 1 M 80,31880711114 J 21080711134 J powing 201407111314 J powing 20140711314 J 2014071131131 J 2014071131131 J 2014071131131 J 2014071131131 J 2014071131131 J 2014071131131 J 2014071131131 J 2014071131131 J 20140711311 J 20140711311 J 20140711311 J 20140711311 J 20140711311 J 20140711311 J 20140711311 J 2014071131 J 2014071131 J 20140711311 J 20140711311 J 2014071131 J 201407111111111111111111111111111111	0.20130807221410_283308072210 (4c5941cb-ec67-407a-9215-331e tasks.resourceIndexClean (py tasks.resourceIndexClean (py tasks.resourceIndexClean (p) dexClean[13cc2748-547d-4d8b	28" "root://eospp: 531f5a92] succeed ot.taiks.resource cc2748.5471.4886 8e02.62aa9a0ee32f	s.cern.ch//eos/aazzar ad in 0.691211938858s (ndexClean) 1e02.62aa9a0ee32f] succeeded in 0.0183	o/80.20138807121410_2013 : None 3518398865: None	9871216287eos.targetstze-8938eos.booking	pstze-
-Bef 1211646,407: WANDAG/Paulineire-39] ID server, assage front assa12174814180 High: Restantian (Frida Marin reader) (Fridaes): disease 12174814180 High: Plilink, file WANDAG/Paulineire-30] ID server, ansage from assa121374841888 High: Plilink, file WANDAG/Paulineire-30] ID server, ansage from assa121374841888 High: Plilink, file WANDAG/Paulineire-30] ID server, ansage from assa12137484188 High: Plilink, file WANDAG/Paulineire-30] ID server, ansage from assa121374841888 High: Plilink, file WANDAG/Paulineire-30] ID server, ansage from assa121374841888 High: Plilink, file WANDAG/Paulineire-30] ID server, ansage from assa121374841888 High: Plilink, file WANDAG/Paulineire-30] ID server, and the from capacity (Filewan) 121374841888 High: Plilink, file WANDAG/Paulineire-30] ID server, and the from capacity (Filewan) 121374841888 High: Plilink, file WANDAG/Paulineire-30] ID server, and the from capacity (Filewan) 121374841888 High: Plilink, file WANDAG/Paulineire-30] ID server, and the from capacity (Filewan) 121374841888 High: Plilink, file WANDAG/Paulineire-30] ID server, and the from capacity (Filewan) 121374841888 High: Plilink, file WANDAG/Paulineire-30] ID server, and the from capacity (Filewan) 1213748418888 High: Plilink, file WANDAG/Paulineire-30] ID server, and the from capacity (Filewan) 1213748418888 High: Plilink, file WANDAG/Paulineire-30] ID server, and the from capacity (Filewan) 1213748418888 High: Plilink, file WANDAG/Paulineire-300,	Bit 21 D124, dot 100 Willing/Walking/reliable & services for comparison of the service of the s	2) ar 2016 groups and	 2013007121416_24130672121 20100 % [0.0 % [0.0 %]/3] 45541cb =cc7.467a.9215.331c 45545.resourceIndexClean (ps. tasks, resourceIndexClean [13 dexClean[13cc2748.547d.48b 	28" "root://eospp: 531f5a92] succeedr ot.tasks.resource cc2748.547d-408- 5802-62ax0a0ee32f	s.cern.ch//eos/aazzar ad in 0.691211938858s (ndexclean) heb: 422a9200049227] succeeded in 0.8183	n/80,20130807121410_2013 : None 351839886s: None	N871216287eos, targetsize-8938eos, booking	pstze-
	5331,3248_46 v GSR openid S_in v 4 50mil	p) and the storage of the storage		28" "root://esspo 531f5a92] succeed ot.tasks.resource 622746.5474.408 8082.62aa9a0ee32f 8082.62aa9a0ee32f 9080501.pp0fC329 9080501.pp0fC329 7481/push:464 12/0est/push:48	.cern.ch//eos/aazzar od in 0.6052119388585 (nderClean) neerClean 2022020000000000000000000000000000000	/80.20130807121410_2013 : None 3518398865: None	C CO x	
	H3.11_32-bitsh + CERN openials 5_im +	2) ponting sets p = 1 (M = 20,2000/11110/L P2000/1110/L P2000/L P2000/1110/L P2000/1110/L P2000/1110/L P2000/1110/L P2000/1110/L P2000/1110/L P2000/1110/L P2000/110/L		<pre>28 'root://essp: 5315492] success cc2248 s.rd edb cc2248 s.rd edb sectors cc224 s.rd sectors cc224 s.rd</pre>	s.cern.ch/pes/azzar ad in 0.ok/211938856 index(tean) HeD:022495400027f HeD:022495400027f HeD:022495400027f HeD:022495400027f HeD:022495400027f HeD:0224954000000000000000000000000000000000	/80.20130897121418_2013 : None 3513978885: None	HTTISTICS, to get the Allower booking	osize-

Figure 7 PyoT storing data on EOS

3.2.1 Sensor level

When the system is running, a CoAP client is active listening for notifications from each sensor node in the WSN. In this scenario the CoAP client itself is responsible for storing the information received from the sensor on the Storage system. When a certain number of records is reached a temporary file is created and the storage client is called (EOS or HDFS). In this configuration a file is periodically stored for every sensor resource in the network (see Figure 8). This pattern can generate a large overhead if the number of sensors is large. The latency depends mainly on the desired chunk size, that is the number of records to save temporarily on the worker node before the storage. This pattern is effective if a fine control on the behaviour of some specific node is required.



Figure 8 Sensor level storage

3.2.2 WSN level

In this scenario data from sensors are stored in a temporary database on each PyoT worker node. A periodic task is activated on each Worker node, checks the local database and collects all the messages received from the WSN nodes in the previous period (see Figure 9). Then a temporary file is created and uploaded on the storage system. This approach reduces significantly the number of files stored in the system (one for each WSN in each period). A database on each worker node is used in order to guarantee the persistency of the collected data within the period.



Figure 9 WSN level storage

3.2.3 Global level

In this case one periodic task for the whole network of WSNs (see Figure 10) collects all the messages received in the previous period and stores them. The task can be executed on any of the PyoT worker nodes: if the job fails, the execution can be retried on another node. In the global level case a common database is used to temporarily store the data. Since the database is accessed by every worker process on all the workers node, it may easily become the bottleneck; redundancy and clustering of the database may be considered to improve reliability and availability of the system.



Figure 10 Global level storage

3.3 Workflow

Figure 11 represents workflow implemented in the project. The large-scale WSN emulator streams data to the storage systems (EOS and HDFS). Data is then analysed using both LSF batch jobs and Hadoop Map-reduce. The result of the computation is used to send a feedback to the WSN. In order to validate the workflow a simple algorithm has been employed. The algorithm simply counts the number of messages received by each sensor node. The feedback function has been implemented switching a set of virtual actuators inside the WSN, using PyoT's macro-programming feature.



Figure 11 WSN Emulation workflow

3.3.1 LSF batch processing workflow

Typically the user sends a shell script containing the processing algorithm to the LSF batch system. The script is responsible for transferring the data set from EOS using the *xroot* protocol. Then the script executes the algorithm, possibly calling an external program, and finally stores the results on EOS.

3.3.2 Hadoop Map-Reduce workflow

Unlike LSF workflow, Map-Reduce does not require an additional data transfer. The framework is responsible for sending the processing function to the right data node. At the end of the computation the results are available on HDFS. The experiments have been performed using Hadoop Streaming API which helps passing data between Map and Reduce functions via standard input and standard output.

3.3.3 Results

The experiment has been run using 8 Virtual Machines, hosting a total of 128 WSN nodes. The resulting rate of the data collection is around 151KRecords/h. A total of ~30K Files has been stored on both EOS and HDFS. The analysis of ~250MB of data on Hadoop required ~1 minute to complete. During the experiments a large number of small files has been created on EOS and HDFS. To mitigate the overhead of the storage a mechanism to compact small files is recommended. This can be easily realized with a periodic job aggregating the small files.

For both LSF and Hadoop systems the speed of the analysis is depending on many factors and is generally unpredictable. The main factor is the availability of the computing resources. Though many techniques can be adopted to provide guarantees to the execution, these were outside the scope of the project and have not been adopted.

4 Data Analysis

The second part of the project focused on the study of analysis techniques on data coming from large-scale sensor networks. The case study is that of city-scale ITS system equipped with a pervasive network of vehicle detectors. More specifically the problem of estimating the Origin-Destination-matrix from traffic count has been considered [6]. A traffic simulator has been used in order to generate realistic data collected by the detectors.

4.1 SUMO

SUMO, "Simulation of Urban MObility", is an open source, microscopic, multi-modal traffic simulation. It allows to simulate how a given traffic demand which consists of single vehicles moves through a given road network. The simulation allows to address a large set of traffic management topics. It is purely microscopic: each vehicle is modelled explicitly, has an own route, and moves individually through the network. SUMO includes all applications needed to prepare and perform a traffic simulation, supports different vehicle types, multi-lane streets with lane changing, traffic lights, loop detectors etc. Moreover SUMO is capable of supporting large-scale simulations (up to 500.000 vehicles). Figure 12 shows a road intersection in SUMO simulator.



Figure 12 Road intersection in SUMO

A SUMO simulation is generated from different components: a road network, a traffic demand, and a definition of induction loop detectors.

Road Network A SUMO network file describes the traffic-related part of a map, the roads and intersections the simulated vehicles run along or across.

Traffic Demand The traffic demand describes the information about the vehicles. Specifically a trip is a vehicle movement from one place to another defined by the starting edge (street), the destination edge, and the departure time. A route is an expanded trip, that means, that a route definition contains not only the first and the last edge, but all edges the vehicle will pass. There are several ways to generate routes for SUMO. The choice depends on the available input data. Traffic demand is often defined using Origin-Destination-Matrices (or OD-matrices), which are often available from traffic authorities. OD-matrix matches trip makers' origins and destinations to develop a "trip table", a matrix that displays the number of trips going from each origin to each destination, describing traffic pattern between various zones.

Inductive loops Inductive loops are wire loops buried in pavement, connected to an inductive loop detector in the controller cabinet. Detector is "tuned" to normal inductance of loop, and when a vehicle passes over the loop, the loop inductance changes, and the detector sends an impulse to the controller. Single loop detector stations (one per lane) are typically deployed on freeways for real time traffic monitoring. SUMO supports both common loop detectors and instantaneous loop detectors. While common loop detectors are instantaneous loop detectors. While common loop detectors is an instantaneous measure for every vehicle detected. In the second case a vehicle identificator is part of the measure, enabling more complex applications like vehicle tracking. The reconstruction of the OD-matrix for an urban scenario is only possible when instantaneous loop inductor detectors are used. Conversely the use of common induction loop detectors (providing an aggregated measure) is only effective in highway scenario, for which entry and exit points can be monitored accurately.

SUMO provides a set of tools to create the routes starting from a definition of an ODmatrix. The procedure to create the routes is as follows.

- 1. Network creation. The network can be created starting from a real map, importing a road network from Open Street Map⁵ or defining an abstract network (using the random network generator) for testing purpose.
- 2. OD-matrix definition. A set of traffic assignment zones (TAZ) defines the districts. Each district is defined by a set of edges, for which input and output probabilities are assigned. OD-matrix is then associated with TAZs, defining the count of vehicles entering and leaving the zone.
- **3**. Trips definition. Using the OD2TRIPS tool a set of trips is created starting from the network definition and the OD-matrix.
- 4. Routes definition. Starting from network and trip files the DUAROUTERS software creates the routes.

4.2 Objective

The main goal is to create a set of traces, obtained from SUMO traffic simulator, describing the passage of vehicles through the network (routes). The traces simulate the data collected by a large-scale sensor network. Following the workflow depicted in Figure 13 the collected data is analysed to reconstruct the OD-matrix and compared with the initial input data. The analysis is performed offline, using both batch jobs and Mapreduce.



Figure 13 Data analysis workflow

4.3 Evaluation

In order to evaluate the effectiveness of the workflow a simple road network has been manually defined. The network includes a set of 16 Instantaneous loop detectors. The virtual detectors are placed in a simple road network, shown in Figure 14, composed by 8 nodes, 16 edges (lanes), 4 intersections, and 4 TAZs (named A, B, C, D). A simple OD-matrix has been defined in order to generate a sustained traffic in the network while preventing excessive congestions.

⁵ <u>http://www.openstreetmap.org</u>



Figure 14 Simple road network

The simulation has been run for 8 days of simulated time. The raw output, containing the measurements from the instantaneous induction loop detectors, has approximate size of 100MB. In order to have a more realistic idea of the time needed to process the data the dataset has been expanded, replicating the output 100 times, creating a "virtual" output of 100 simple road networks.

Considering the analysis performed using LFS batch job system, a script has been created in order to compute the OD-matrix starting from the output of the simulator. Specifically the script:

- 1. fetches the data from EOS;
- 2. searches for all the routes travelled by vehicles, for every route it computes the number of vehicles that have travelled through it;
- 3. computes the Origin/Destination matrix for the network;
- 4. writes the results to the standard output.

The number of routes per trip is shown in Figure 15. The output O/D matrix, represented in the bi-dimensional histogram in Fig. YYY, reflects the input matrices, confirming the correctness of the calculation. A small difference between the original matrix and the computed one is possible because of some vehicles teleporting (moving across non adjacent edges) in SUMO simulation.

The histogram in Figure 16 shows the computed number of trips for all the possible routes. The analysis of \sim 10GB of data on Hadoop required \sim 2 minute to complete. Anyhow the results are approximate because the experiments could not be executed in a well-controlled environment.



Figure 15 Computed OD-matrix



Figure 16 Computed number of trips per route

5 Conclusions and future works

In this project a system for connecting a large-scale WSN to CERN storage and computing system has been evaluated. The workflow, which comprises data collection, storage, online, and offline analysis, has been implemented and validated. The first part of the project focused on the development of an infrastructure enabling large-scale WSN emulation, supporting the storage of large amount of data on scalable systems such as EOS and HDFS. The infrastructure is capable of supporting a complete control loop, including data collection, online analysis and feedback in the environment. The second

part regarded the study of data analysis pattern for data coming from large-scale WSNs, with a focus on the offline computation of ITS-related data. The project demonstrated the effectiveness of the usage of tools such as Hadoop Map-reduce for the offline analysis of sensor-related data. Anyway further studies are needed to better evaluate the feasibility of quasi-online computation on sensor data. Specific mechanisms should be adopted in order to provide guarantees in terms of timeliness to the system. Moreover a direct connection between the traffic simulator (SUMO) and a WSN simulator should be considered. An interface should be in charge of synchronization and information exchange between the two simulators. The resulting simulator would allow to evaluate the impact of a large-scale cooperative intelligent transport system more realistically.

In the system evaluated the nodes are in charge of simply sensing the environment and forwarding the data to the distributed storage system. Anyway in WSN the largest source of energy consumption is due to wireless transmission. Since motes have local computational power and support remote reprogramming, a system distributing the data processing inside the network should be considered to enhance the energy efficiency of the system. If we consider every node of the WSN as having a local collection of measurements of type key-value the WSN can be seen as a distributed file system and the map-reduce computing model in which every node of the network is a worker node, could be applied. Anyway porting the map-reduce runtime environment in a resource-constrained world is challenging. Besides, the model should be adapted to a lossy network, in which nodes may fail or disappear frequently.

6 References

- 1. Mulligan, G., *The 6LoWPAN architecture*, in *Proceedings of the 4th workshop on Embedded networked sensors*2007, ACM: Cork, Ireland. p. 78-82.
- Shelby, Z., *Embedded web services*. Wireless Communications, IEEE, 2010. 17(6): p. 52-57.
- 3. Jardak, C., et al. Parallel processing of data from very large-scale wireless sensor networks. in Proceedings of the 19th ACM International Symposium on High Performance Distributed Computing. 2010. ACM.
- 4. Liu, J., et al. An open, flexible and multilevel data storing and processing platform for very large scale sensor network. in Advanced Communication Technology (ICACT), 2012 14th International Conference on. 2012. IEEE.
- 5. Sobeih, A., et al., *J-Sim: a simulation and emulation environment for wireless sensor networks.* Wireless Communications, IEEE, 2006. **13**(4): p. 104-119.
- 6. Abrahamsson, T., *Estimation of origin-destination matrices using traffic counts–a literature survey*. IIASA Interim Report IR-98-021/May, 1998. **27**: p. 76.